APACHE SOLR COOKBOOK

Hot Recipes for the Apache Solr Platform



VEERAMANI KALYANASUNDARAM





Apache Solr Cookbook

Contents

1	Apa	ache Solr Tutorial for Beginners								
	1.1 Why Apache Solr									
	1.2	Installing Apache Solr	1							
	1.3	Configuring Apache Solr	3							
		1.3.1 Creating a Core	3							
		1.3.2 Modify the schema.xml file	5							
	1.4	Indexing the Data	5							
	1.5	Access the Indexed documents	7							
		1.5.1 Search by name	7							
		1.5.2 Search by starting letter	8							
		1.5.3 Search using wildcard	9							
		1.5.4 Search using a condition	10							
	1.6	Solr Client API's	11							
	1.7	Download the Schema file	12							
2	How	w to Install Solr on Ubuntu 1								
	2.1	Install Apache Solr	13							
	2.2	Configure Apache Solr	15							
	2.3	Indexing the Data	16							
	2.4	Download the Schema file	17							
3	Solr	query syntax examples	18							
	3.1	Installing Apache Solr	18							
	3.2	Start Solr Server	19							
	3.3 Solr basic query									
	3.4	3.4 Solr query parameters								
	3.5	Solr advanced queries	22							
		3.5.1 Solr query - selective fields	22							
		3.5.2 Solr query - filter	23							
		3.5.3 Solr guery - faceted Search	25							

4	Solr	r autocomplete example 27								
	4.1	Install Apache Solr	27							
	4.2	Configuring Apache Solr	29							
		4.2.1 Creating a Core	29							
		4.2.2 Modify the schema.xml file	31							
	4.3	Indexing the Data	31							
	4.4	Setting up the webproject	32							
	4.5	Indexing using NGramFilterFactory	39							
	4.6	Modify search.html	40							
	4.7	Download the Eclipse Project	42							
5	Solr	replication example	43							
	5.1	Install Apache Solr	43							
	5.2	Configuring Solr - master	45							
		5.2.1 Creating master Core	45							
		5.2.2 Modify solrconfig	47							
	5.3	Configuring Solr - slave	48							
	5.4	Indexing and Replication	50							
	5.5	Add new record	52							
	5.6	Download the Configuration	54							
6	Solr	dr Synonyms Example								
	6.1	Install Apache Solr	55							
	6.2	Configuring Apache Solr	57							
	6.3	Indexing the Data	58							
	6.4	Configure synonym	59							
		6.4.1 With symbol " \Rightarrow "	59							
		6.4.2 Comma-separated list	60							
	6.5	Schema configuration	61							
	6.6	Download the Configuration	62							
7	Solr	Faceted Search Example	63							
	7.1	Installing Apache Solr	63							
	7.2	Start Solr Server	64							
	7.3	Facet Search	65							
		7.3.1 Field-Value Faceting								
		7.3.2 Range Faceting	66							
		7.3.3 Interval Faceting	68							
	7.4	Download the Configuration	69							

8	Solr	Filter Query Example	70	
	8.1	Install Apache Solr	70	
	8.2	Configuring Apache Solr	72	
		8.2.1 Creating a Core	72	
		8.2.2 Modify the schema.xml file	74	
	8.3	Indexing the Data	74	
	8.4	3.4 Filter queries		
		8.4.1 Single filter query	75	
		8.4.2 Multiple filters	77	
	8.5	Download the source code	78	

Copyright (c) Exelixis Media P.C., 2017

All rights reserved. Without limiting the rights under copyright reserved above, no part of this publication may be reproduced, stored or introduced into a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means (electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise), without the prior written permission of the copyright owner.

Preface

Solr (pronounced "solar") is an open source enterprise search platform, written in Java, from the Apache Lucene project. Its major features include full-text search, hit highlighting, faceted search, real-time indexing, dynamic clustering, database integration, NoSQL features and rich document (e.g., Word, PDF) handling. Providing distributed search and index replication, Solr is designed for scalability and fault tolerance. Solr is the second-most popular enterprise search engine after Elasticsearch. (Source: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Apache_Solr)

Solr is highly reliable, scalable and fault tolerant, providing distributed indexing, replication and load-balanced querying, automated failover and recovery, centralized configuration and more. Solr powers the search and navigation features of many of the world's largest internet sites. (Source: https://lucene.apache.org/solr/)

In this ebook, we provide a compilation of Apache Solr tutorials that will help you kick-start your own programming projects. We cover a wide range of topics, from basic usage and installation, to query syntax and synonyms search. With our straightforward tutorials, you will be able to get your own projects up and running in minimum time.

About the Author

Veera is a Software Architect working in telecom domain with rich experience in Java Middleware Technologies. He is a OOAD practitioner and interested in Performance Engineering.

Chapter 1

Apache Solr Tutorial for Beginners

In this example of Apache Solr Tutorial for Beginners, we will discuss about how to install the latest version of Apache Solr and show you how to configure it. Also we will show you how to perform the index using a sample data file. Apache Solr supports indexing from different source formats including various databases, PDF files, XML files, CSV files etc. For this example we will look into how to index data from a CSV file.

Our preferred environment for this example is Windows. Before you begin the Solr installation make sure you have JDK installed and Java_Home is set appropriately.

1.1 Why Apache Solr

Apache Solr is a powerful search server, which supports REST like API. Solr is powered by Lucene which enables powerful matching capabilities like phrases, wildcards, joins, grouping and many more across various data types. It is highly optimized for high traffic using Apache Zookeeper. Apache Solr comes with a wide set of features and we have listed a subset of high impact features.

- Advanced Full-Text search capabilities.
- Standards based on Open Interfaces XML, JSON and Http.
- Highly scalable and fault tolerant.
- Supports both Schema and Schemaless configuration.
- · Faceted Search and Filtering.
- · Support major languages like English, German, Chinese, Japanese, French and many more
- Rich Document Parsing.

1.2 Installing Apache Solr

To begin with lets download the latest version of Apache Solr from the following location:

https://lucene.apache.org/solr/downloads.html

As of this writing, the stable version available is 5.0.0. Apache Solr has gone through various changes from 4.x.x to 5.0.0, so if you have different version of Solr you need to download the 5.x.x. version to follow this example.

Once the Solr zip file is downloaded unzip it into a folder. The extracted folder will look like the below.

Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
鷆 bin	4/7/2015 2:27 PM	File folder	
퉬 contrib	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
鷆 dist	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
鷆 docs	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
鷆 example	4/3/2015 2:02 PM	File folder	
퉬 licenses	4/3/2015 11:20 AM	File folder	
퉬 server	4/3/2015 12:38 PM	File folder	
CHANGES	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	441 KB
LICENSE	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	13 KB
LUCENE_CHANGES	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	523 KB
NOTICE	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	25 KB
README	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	8 KB
	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	1 KB
		GCG	Java Code Geeks

Figure 1.1: Solr folders

The bin folder contains the scripts to start and stop the server. The example folder contains few example files. We will be using one of them to demonstrate how Solr indexes the data. The server folder contains the logs folder where all the Solr logs are written. It will be helpful to check the logs for any error during indexing. The solr folder under server holds different collection or core. The configuration and data for each of the core/ collection are stored in the respective core/ collection folder.

Apache Solr comes with an inbuilt Jetty server. But before we start the solr instance we must validate the JAVA_HOME is set on the machine.

We can start the server using the command line script. Lets go to the bin directory from the command prompt and issue the following command

solr start

This will start the Solr server under the default port 8983.

We can now open the following URL in the browser and validate that our Solr instance is running. The specifics of solr admin tool is beyond the scope of the example.

https://localhost:8983/solr/

) 🤭 http://localhos Idmin	st.8983/solr/#/			,0+0 G
	Instance		System	ð
OU	🖲 Start	about 5 hours ago	Physical Memory 57.7%	
Dashboard	2 Versions			
Logging	solr-spec	5.0.0	4.55 GB	
Core Admin Java Properties	solr-impl 41_lucene-spec lucene-impl	5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:26:10 5.0.0 5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03	Swap Space 29.3%	
Thread Dump			4.63 GB	15.77 GB
	MVC 🧕		JVM-Memory E4%	
	Runtime	Oracle Corporation Java HotSpot(TM) 64-Bit Server VM (1.8.0_25 25.25-b02)		
	Args	 DSTOP.KEY=solrrocks DSTOP.PORT=7983 Djava.io.tmpdir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\tmp Djava.net.preferIPv4Stack=true Djetty.home=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server Dietty.port=8983 	41.07 MB	490.69 MB 490.69 MB
		-Dłog4j.configuration=file:D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\resources -Dselr.install.dir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0 -Dselr.solr.home=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0 -Duser.timezone=UTC -XX:+CMSParallelRemarkEnabled -XX:+CMSScavengeBeforeRemark -XX:+ParallelRefProcEnabled	Java Coc JAVA 2 JAVA DEVELOPER	IC GOOKS Is resource Center

Figure 1.2: Solr admin console

1.3 Configuring Apache Solr

In this section, we will show you how to configure the core/collection for a solr instance and how to define the fields. Apache Solr ships with an option called Schemaless mode. This option allow users to construct effective schema without manually editing the schema file. But for this example we will use the Schema configuration for understanding the internals of the Solr.

1.3.1 Creating a Core

When the Solr server is started in Standalone mode the configuration is called core and when it is started in SolrCloud mode the configuration is called Collection. In this example we will discuss about the standalone server and core. We will park the SolrCloud discussion for later time.

First, we need to create a Core for indexing the data. The Solr create command has the following options:

- -c <name> Name of the core or collection to create (required).
- -d <confdir> The configuration directory, useful in the SolrCloud mode.
- -n <configName> The configuration name. This defaults to the same name as the core or collection.
- -p Port of a local Solr instance to send the create command to; by default the script tries to detect the port by looking for running Solr instances.

- -s <shards> Number of shards to split a collection into, default is 1.
- -rf <replicas> Number of copies of each document in the collection. The default is 1.

In this example we will use the -c parameter for core name and -d parameter for the configuration directory. For all other parameters we make use of default settings.

Now navigate the solr-5.0.0bin folder in the command window and issue the following command.

solr create -c jcg -d basic_configs

We can see the following output in the command window.

```
Creating new core 'jcg' using command:
https://localhost:8983/solr/admin/cores?action=CREATE&name=jcg&instanceDir=jcg
```

```
{
  "responseHeader":{
  "status":0,
  "QTime":663},
  "core":"jcg"}
```

Now we navigate to the following URL and we can see jcg core being populated in the core selector. You can also see the statistics of the core.

```
https://localhost:8983/solr
```

```
http://localhost.8983/sole/#/jcg
                                                                                                                                                                        P-0 0 $ 8
                       Statistics
                                                                                                         Instance
                            Last Modified:
                                                                                                                     CWD: D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server
                               Num Docs: 0
                                                                                                                  Instance: D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\solr\jcg
                                                                                                                     Data: D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\solr\jog\data
                                Max Doc: 0
Dashboard
                            Heap Memory 0
                                                                                                                    Index: D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\solr\jcg\data\index
                                  Usage:
Logging
                                                                                                                     Impl: org.apache.solr.core.NRTCachingDirectoryFactory
                            Deleted Docs: 0
E Core Admin
                                 Version: 1
                           Segment Count: 0
Java Properties
                               Optimized: 🖌
Thread Dump
                                 Current: 🖌
jcg
                                                                                                           Healthcheck
                       C Replication (Master)
  1 Overview
                         Master (Searching) 0
                                                         71 bytes
  T Analysis
                                                     1
                         Master (Replicable) -
  Dataimport
  Cocuments
                       🛃 Admin Extra
  Files
  Ping
  Plugins / Stats
  Query
                                                                                          📄 Documentation   🛊 Issue Tracker 🏾 🧟 IRC Channel 🔤 Community forum 🖉 Solr Query Syntax
  C Replication
  E Schema Browser
```

1.3.2 Modify the schema.xml file

We need to modify the schema.xml file under the folder serversolrjcgconf to include the fields. We will use one of the example file "books.csv" shipped along with Solr installation for indexing. The file is located under the folder solr-5.0. Oexampleexampledocs

Now we navigate to the folder serversolr directory. You will see a folder called jcg created. The sub-folders namely conf and data have the core's configuration and indexed data respectively.

Now edit the schema.xml file in the serversolrjcgconf folder and add the following contents after the uniqueKey element.

schema.xml

```
<uniqueKey>id</uniqueKey>
<!-- Fields added for books.csv load-->
<field name="cat" type="text_general" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="name" type="text_general" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="price" type="tdouble" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="inStock" type="boolean" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="author" type="text_general" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
```

We have set the attribute indexed to true. This specifies the field is used for indexing and the record can be retrieved using the index. Setting the value to false will make the field only stored but can't be queried with.

Also note we have another attribute called stored and set it to true. This specifies the field is stored and can be returned in the output. Setting this field to false will make the field only indexed and can't be retrieved in output.

We have assigned the type for the fields present in the "books.csv" file here. The first field in the CSV file "id" is automatically taken care by the uniqueKey element of schema.xml file for indexing. If you note, we have missed the fields series_t, sequence_i and genre_s without making any entry. But, when we perform indexing all these fields are also indexed without any issue. If you wonder how that happens take a closer look at the dynamicField section in schema.xml file.

schema.xml

```
<dynamicField name="*_i" type="int" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<dynamicField name="*_is" type="ints" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<dynamicField name="*_ss" type="strings" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<dynamicField name="*_l" type="long" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<dynamicField name="*_ls" type="longs" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<dynamicField name="*_ls" type="text_general" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<dynamicField name="*_b" type="text_general" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<dynamicField name="*_b" type="boolean" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<dynamicField name="*_b" type="booleans" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<dynamicField name="*_f" type="float" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<dynamicField name="*_f" type="floats" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<dynamicField name="*_f" type="floats" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<dynamicField name="*_fs" type="floats" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<dynamicField name="*_fs" type="floats" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<dynamicField name="*_fs" type="floats" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<dynamicField name="*_ds" type="doubles" indexed="true" stored="true"/></dynamicField name="*_ds" type="doubles" indexed="true" stored="true"/></dynamicField name="*_ds" type="doubles" indexed="true" stored="true"/></dynamicField name="*_ds" type="doubles" indexed="true
```

Since we have modified the configuration we have to stop and start the server. To do so, we need to issue the following command from bin directory through command line.

solr stop -all

The server will be stopped now. Now to start the server issue the following command from bin directory through command line.

1.4 Indexing the Data

Apache Solr comes with a Standalone Java program called the SimplePostTool. This program is packaged into JAR and available with the installation under the folder exampleexampledocs.

Now we navigate to the exampleexampledocs folder in the command prompt and type the following command. You will see a bunch of options to use the tool.

java -jar post.jar -h

The usage format in general is as follows

```
Usage:java [SystemProperties] -jar post.jar [-h|-] [<file|folder|url|arg> [<file|folde
r|url|arg>...]]
```

As we said earlier, we will index the data present in the "books.csv" file shipped with Solr installation. We will navigate to the solr-5.0.0exampleexampledocs in the command prompt and issue the following command.

java -Dtype=text/csv -Durl=https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/update -jar post.jar books. csv

The SystemProperties used here are:

- -Dtype the type of the data file.
- -Durl URL for the jcg core.

The file "books.csv" will now be indexed and the command prompt will display the following output.

```
SimplePostTool version 5.0.0
Posting files to [base] url https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/update using content-
type text/csv...
POSTing file books.csv to [base]
1 files indexed.
COMMITting Solr index changes to https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/update...
Time spent: 0:00:00.647
```

Now we navigate to the following URL and select the core jcg.

```
https://localhost:8983/solr
```

Admin	X			
	i Statistics	Instance		
Dashboard	Last Modified: 8 minutes ago Num Docs: 10 Max Doc: 10 Heap Memory -1	CWD: D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server Instance: D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\solr\jcg Data: D:\software\solr-5.0.0\server\solr\jcg\data Index: D:\software\solr-5.0.0\server\solr\jcg\data\index		
Logging Core Admin	Deleted Docs: 0 Version: 3	Impl: org.apache.solr.core.NRTCachingDirectoryFactory		
Java Properties Thread Dump	Segment Count: 1 Optimized: ✓ Current: ✓			
g *	°⊖ Replication (Master)	Healthcheck		
Cverview	Version Gen Size	Ping request handler is not configured with a healthcheck file.		
T Analysis	Master (Searching) 1428399764535 2 4.92 KB			
Dataimport	Master (Replicable) 1428399764535 2 -	17		
Documents	Admin Extra	stool ohn? evel (and)		
Files	We found no "admin-extra.html" file.			
E Ping		The state of the of the state o		
Plugins / Stats				
P Query		Documentation Solr Ouery S IRC Channel Community forum Solr Ouery S		
C Replication		Contraction Contraction Name State Contraction		



Take a closer look at the statistics section, the Num Docs parameter will show the count of the rows indexed.

1.5 Access the Indexed documents

Apache Solr provides a REST based API to access the data and also provides different parameters to retrieve the data. We will show you few scenario based queries.

1.5.1 Search by name

We will retrieve the details of the book by its name. To do so, we will use the following syntax. The parameter "q" in the URL is the query event.

Open the following URL in a browser.

```
https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/select?q=name:"A Clash of Kings"
```

The output will be as shown below.



Figure 1.5: Solr by name

1.5.2 Search by starting letter

Now we will show you how to search for the record if we know only the starting letter or word and don't remember the full title. We can use the following query to retrieve the result.

https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/select?q=name:"A"

The output will list all the books staring with letter A.



Figure 1.6: Solr starting letter

1.5.3 Search using wildcard

Solr supports wildcard search. We will show in the following query how to retrieve all the books which contains the word "of" in the name.

https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/select?q=name:"*of"

The output will list all the books with the word "of" present in it.



Figure 1.7: Solr wildcard search

1.5.4 Search using a condition

Solr supports conditional search. It provides "fq" parameter using which, we can set condition to our query. We will show you how to find books which are priced less than \$6 in the following query.

https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/select?q=*&fq=price:[0 TO 6]

The output will list only the books which are less than \$6.





1.6 Solr Client API's

There are different client API's available to connect to the Solr server. We have listed a few widely used Solr client API's.

- SolRuby To connect from Ruby
- SolPHP To connect from PHP
- PySolr To connect from Python
- SolPerl To connect from Perl
- SolrJ To connect from Java
- SolrSharp To connect from C#

Also Solr provides the REST based API which can be directly consumed using the JavaScript.

1.7 Download the Schema file

This was a tutorial on Apache Solr for beginners.

Download

You can download the schema file here : Solr schema file

Chapter 2

How to Install Solr on Ubuntu

In this example of "how to install Solr on Ubuntu" we will discuss about how to download and install Solr in Ubuntu operating system. Ubuntu desktop operating system powers millions of PCs and laptops around the world. So this example is dedicated to users who are on Ubuntu and want to install Solr on Ubuntu.

Along with Solr installation, we will also show you how to create a Solr core and index an example file shipped along with Solr. Our preferred environment for this example is Ubuntu 14.x and solr-5.x. Before you begin the Solr installation make sure you have JDK installed and Java_Home is set appropriately.

2.1 Install Apache Solr

To begin with, lets download the latest version of Apache Solr from the following location:

https://www.eu.apache.org/dist/lucene/solr/5.3.1/

File: solr-5.3.1.tgz

Once the file is downloaded, create a directory called solr under /opt and move the downloaded file. Now navigate to the directory /opt/solr and unzip the file using the following command.

sudo tar -xvf solr-5.3.1.tgz

The Solr commands has to be executed from the bin directory, so navigate to the following path.

/opt/solr/solr-5.3.1/bin

The extracted directory will look like the below.

😣 🕒 💿 🛛 veeramani@veeramani-Satellite-A205: /opt/solr/solr-5.3.1

veeramani@	veer	ramani	i-Sate	ellite-	A205	:/o	ot/sol	/solr-5.3.1\$ ls	-lrt
total 1160									
-rw-rr	1	root	root	26529	Aug	12	14:46	NOTICE.txt	
- FW- F F	1	root	root	12646	Aug	12	14:46	LICENSE.txt	
- FW- F F	1	root	root	7167	Aug	12	14:46	README.txt	
- FW- F F	1	root	root	566457	Sep	9	17:01	LUCENE_CHANGES.	txt
- FW- F F	1	root	root	503614	Sep	17	00:37	CHANGES.txt	
drwxr-xr-x	13	root	root	4096	Sep	17	01:50	contrib	
drwxr-xr-x	7	root	root	4096	Nov	25	22:00	example	
drwxr-xr-x	2	root	root	36864	Nov	25	22:00	licenses	
drwxr-xr-x	11	root	root	4096	Nov	25	22:00	server	
drwxr-xr-x	4	root	root	4096	Nov	25	22:00	dist	
drwxr-xr-x	19	root	root	4096	Nov	25	22:00	docs	
drwxr-xr-x	3	root	root	4096	Nov	25	22:12	bin _	
veeramani@	veer	ramani	i-Sate	ellite-	A205	:/o	ot/sol	r/solr-5.3.1\$	
								Gai	doog ohog eve
									2 JAVA DEVELOPERS RESOURCE CENT

Figure 2.1: Solr Ubuntu folders

The bin folder contains the scripts to start and stop the server. The example folder contains few example files. We will be using one of them to demonstrate how Solr indexes the data. The server folder contains the logs folder where all the Solr logs are written. It will be helpful to check the logs for any error during indexing. The solr folder under server holds different collection or core. The configuration and data for each of the core/ collection are stored in the respective core/ collection folder.

Apache Solr comes with an inbuilt Jetty server. But before we start the solr instance we must validate the JAVA_HOME is set on the machine.

Now use the following command to start the Solr server.

sudo ./solr start

This will start the Solr server under the default port 8983. We can now open the following URL in the browser and validate that our Solr instance is running.

https://localhost:8983/solr/#/



Figure 2.2: Solr Ubuntu Console

2.2 Configure Apache Solr

When the Solr server is started in Standalone mode, the configuration is called core and when it is started in SolrCloud mode, the configuration is called Collection. In this example we will discuss about the standalone server and core. We will park the SolrCloud discussion for later time.

First, we need to create a Core for indexing the data. The Solr create command has the following options:

- -c <name> Name of the core or collection to create (required).
- -d <confdir> The configuration directory, useful in the SolrCloud mode.
- -n <configName> The configuration name. This defaults to the same name as the core or collection.
- -p <port> Port of a local Solr instance to send the create command to; by default the script tries to detect the port by looking for running Solr instances.
- -s <shards> Number of shards to split a collection into, default is 1.
- -rf <replicas> Number of copies of each document in the collection. The default is 1.

In this example we will use the -c parameter for core name and -d parameter for the configuration directory. For all other parameters we make use of default settings.

Now navigate the solr-5.3.1/bin directory and issue the following command

sudo ./solr create -c jcg -d basic_configs

We can see the following output in the command window.

```
Setup new core instance directory:
/opt/solr/solr-5.3.1/server/solr/jcg
Creating new core 'jcg' using command:
https://localhost:8983/solr/admin/cores?action=CREATE&name=jcg&instanceDir=jcg
{
    "responseHeader":{
    "status":0,
    "QTime":5862},
    "core":"jcg"}
```

Now edit the schema.xml file in the /server/solr/jcg/conf folder and add the following contents after the uniqueKey element.

schema.xml

```
<uniqueKey>id</uniqueKey>
<!-- Fields added for books.csv load-->
<field name="cat" type="text_general" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="name" type="text_general" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="price" type="tdouble" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="inStock" type="boolean" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="author" type="text_general" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
```

Since we have modified the configuration, we have to stop and start the server. To do so, we need to issue the following command from bin directory through command line:

sudo ./solr stop -all

The server will be stopped now. Now to start the server issue the following command from bin directory through command line:

sudo ./solr start

2.3 Indexing the Data

Apache Solr comes with a Standalone Java program called the SimplePostTool. This program is packaged into JAR and available with the installation under the folder example/exampledocs.

Now we navigate to the /example/exampledocs folder in the command prompt and type the following command. You will see a bunch of options to use the tool.

java -jar post.jar -h

The usage format in general is as follows:

```
Usage:java [SystemProperties] -jar post.jar [-h|-] [<file|folder|url|arg> [<file|folde
r|url|arg>...]]
```

As we said earlier, we will index the data present in the "books.csv" file shipped with Solr installation. We will navigate to the /example/exampledocs in the command prompt and issue the following command.

java -Dtype=text/csv -Durl=https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/update -jar post.jar books. csv

The SystemProperties used here are:

- -Dtype the type of the data file.
- -Durl URL for the jcg core.

```
SimplePostTool version 5.0.0
Posting files to [base] url https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/update using content-type text/ ↔
    csv...
POSTing file books.csv to [base]
1 files indexed.
COMMITting Solr index changes to https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/update...
Time spent: 0:00:01.149
```

Now, the data from the example file is indexed and stored. Let's open the following URL. We can see the number of documents matching the data count in the example file.



https://localhost:8983/solr/#/jcg

Figure 2.3: Solr Ubuntu Data

2.4 Download the Schema file

Download

You can download the schema file used in this example here: schema.xml

Chapter 3

Solr query syntax examples

In this example of Solr query syntax we will discuss about different query formats in Solr. For our discussion, we will be using one of the collection example (techproducts) that comes along with Solr Installation. We will show you, how to use the REST based API's exposed by Solr and show you how to use various querying parameters.

Our preferred environment for this example is Windows. Before you begin the Solr installation make sure you have JDK installed and Java_Home is set appropriately.

3.1 Installing Apache Solr

To begin with, lets download the latest version of Apache Solr from the following location:

https://lucene.apache.org/solr/downloads.html

As of this writing, the stable version available is 5.0.0. Apache Solr has gone through various changes from 4.x.x to 5.0.0, so if you have different version of Solr you need to download the 5.x.x. version to follow this example.

Once the Solr zip file is downloaded unzip it into a folder. The extracted folder will look like the below.

Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
退 bin	4/7/2015 2:27 PM	File folder	
퉬 contrib	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
鷆 dist	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
鷆 docs	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
鷆 example	4/3/2015 2:02 PM	File folder	
🎉 licenses	4/3/2015 11:20 AM	File folder	
闄 server	4/3/2015 12:38 PM	File folder	
CHANGES	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	441 KB
LICENSE	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	13 KB
LUCENE_CHANGES	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	523 KB
NOTICE	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	25 KB
README	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	8 KB
SYSTEM_REQUIREMENTS	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	1 KB
		GG	Java Code Geeks

Figure 3.1: Solr folders

The bin folder contains the scripts to start and stop the server. The example folder contains few example files. We will be using one of them to demonstrate how Solr indexes the data. The server folder contains the logs folder where all the Solr logs are written. It will be helpful to check the logs for any error during indexing. The solr folder under server holds different collection or core. The configuration and data for each of the core/ collection are stored in the respective core/ collection folder.

Apache Solr comes with an inbuilt Jetty server. But before we start the solr instance we must validate the JAVA_HOME is set on the machine.

3.2 Start Solr Server

Solr provides few useful collection example to learn about the key features. We will use the techproducts collection bundled with Solr for our discussion. To start the Solr server with the techproducts collection let's open a command prompt, navigate to bin folder and issue the following syntax.

solr -e techproducts

This will start the Solr server under the default port 8983.

We can now open the following URL in the browser and validate that our Solr instance is running. You can also notice the collection techproducts being populated.

```
https://localhost:8983/solr/
```





3.3 Solr basic query

Solr provides a simple REST based select query to search on indexed data. We have to provide the context path of the collection (techproducts in our case) and use select in the URL indicating this is a select query. The parameter q is used to specify the search string.

The following query will look for video in all the indexed fields of the techproducts collection. If you notice the video is present in name field of result 1 and present in one of the features for result 2. This type of query can be used for free text searching on documents. Open the following URL in the browser.

https://localhost:8983/solr/techproducts/select?q=video



Figure 3.3: Solr query - basic

3.4 Solr query parameters

Solr provides a list of parameters that can be used with queries. The below section explains the available parameters and the purpose.

- qt Query handler for the request. Standard query handler is used if not specified.
- **q** It is used to specify the query event.
- fq Used to specify filter queries.
- sort Used to sort the results in ascending or descending order.
- start, rows start specifies the staring number of the result set. By default it is zero. rows specify the number of records to return.

- fl Used to return selective fields.
- wt Specifies the response format. Default is XML.
- indent Setting to true makes the response more readable.
- debugQuery Setting the parameter to true gives the debugging information as part of response.
- dismax To specify the dismax parser.
- edismax To specify the edismax parser.
- facet Setting to true enables the faceting.
- spatial Used for geospatial searches.
- spellcheck Setting to true help in searching similar terms.

3.5 Solr advanced queries

We can use one or more parameters provided by Solr to construct the query. In this section we will show you few combinations.

3.5.1 Solr query - selective fields

As we stated earlier, fl parameter can be used to select limited set of fields in the response. This will help to limit the volume of data that pass through system and reduce I/O cost.

We will modify the basic query to return limited set of fields. We have chosen to return id, name and price in the following query.

Open the following URL in the browser. You can notice the result set contains only the selected fields and the size of the response is reduced when measured in bytes.

https://localhost:8983/solr/techproducts/select?q=video&fl=id,name,price



Figure 3.4: Solr query - selected fields

3.5.2 Solr query - filter

We can modify the basic query to add filter. In the basic query, we haven't specified any field to search for the string video and it returned values from name, features etc. But now we will specify where to look for the search string.

Open the following URL in browser. You can notice the result contains only the records that contain video in the name field.

https://localhost:8983/solr/techproducts/select?q=name:video



Figure 3.5: Solr query - filter name

Similarly, we can modify the query to select all the products with category as electronics. Open the following URL in browser. You can notice the result set contains only the electronics products. Also, we have combined the fl parameter to select only id, name and price fields.

https://localhost:8983/solr/techproducts/select?q=cat:electronics&fl=id,name,price



Figure 3.6: Solr query - filter category

3.5.3 Solr query - faceted Search

Faceting is a special type of search used for arranging the search results into categories. Searches are presented with indexed terms along with count of matching documents. Faceting makes it easy for users to explore search results, narrowing in on exactly the results they are looking for.

Open the following query in browser. You will see at the bottom of the response contains facet_counts for each of the category. Also you can notice we have applied filter on price and selected only specified fields.

https://localhost:8983/solr/techproducts/select?q=price:[0 TO 400]&fl=id,name,price&fa
cet=true&facet.field=cat





Figure 3.7: Solr query - facet

Chapter 4

Solr autocomplete example

In this example of Solr autocomplete example, we will discuss about how to implement autocomplete functionality for any UI component. We will be using jQuery autocomplete feature along with Solr indexing data to achieve the autocomplete functionality.

Our preferred environment for this example is solr-5.0.0, Eclipse Luna, JDK 8u25, and Tomcat 8 application server. Having said that, we have tested the code against JDK 1.7 and Tomcat 7 as well.

Before you begin the Solr installation make sure you have JDK installed and Java_Home is set appropriately.

4.1 Install Apache Solr

To begin with lets download the latest version of Apache Solr from the following location.

https://lucene.apache.org/solr/downloads.html

As of this writing, the stable version available is 5.0.0. Apache Solr has gone through various changes from 4.x.x to 5.0.0, so if you have different version of Solr you need to download the 5.x.x. version to follow this example.

Once the Solr zip file is downloaded unzip it into a folder. The extracted folder will look like the below.

Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
퉬 bin	4/7/2015 2:27 PM	File folder	
퉬 contrib	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
鷆 dist	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
鷆 docs	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
퉬 example	4/3/2015 2:02 PM	File folder	
퉬 licenses	4/3/2015 11:20 AM	File folder	
퉬 server	4/3/2015 12:38 PM	File folder	
CHANGES	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	441 KB
LICENSE	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	13 KB
LUCENE_CHANGES	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	523 KB
NOTICE	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	25 KB
README	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	8 KB
SYSTEM_REQUIREMENTS	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	1 KB
		Gog	Java Code Geeks

Figure 4.1: Solr folders

The bin folder contains the scripts to start and stop the server. The example folder contains few example files. We will be using one of them to demonstrate how Solr indexes the data. The server folder contains the logs folder where all the Solr logs are written. It will be helpful to check the logs for any error during indexing. The solr folder under server holds different collection or core. The configuration and data for each of the core/ collection are stored in the respective core/ collection folder.

Apache Solr comes with an inbuilt Jetty server. But before we start the solr instance we must validate the JAVA_HOME is set on the machine.

We can start the server using the command line script. Lets go to the bin directory from the command prompt and issue the following command

solr start

This will start the Solr server under the default port 8983.

We can now open the following URL in the browser and validate that our Solr instance is running. The specifics of solr admin tool is beyond the scope of the example.

https://localhost:8983/solr/
śmin	×			
	Instance		System	Ð
Oli	Start	about 5 hours ago	Physical Memory 57.7%	
Dashboard	2 Versions			
Logging	🥱 solr-spec	5.0.0	4.55 GB	
Core Admin Java Properties	solr-impl	5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:26:10 5.0.0 5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03	Swap Space 19.0%	
Thread Dump	incore imp	ana malani - manundaha - mara ar in ina	4.63 GB	15.77 GB
	MVC 🚊		JVM-Memory E.4%	
	 Runtime Processors Args 	Oracle Corporation Java HotSpot(TM) 64-Bit Server VM (1.8.0_25 25.25-b02) 4 -DSTOP.KEY=solrrocks	41.07.100	
		-DSTOP.PORT=7983 -Djava.io.tmpdir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\tmp -Djava.net.preferIPv4Stack=true -Djetty.home=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server -Djetty.port=8983 -Dionst.configuration=file:D:\software\solr-5.0.0\server		490.69 MB 490.69 MB
		-Dsolr.install.dir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\sol	Java Code	B Geeks

Figure 4.2: Solr admin console

4.2 Configuring Apache Solr

In this section, we will show you how to configure the core/collection for a solr instance and how to define the fields. Apache Solr ships with an option called Schemaless mode. This option allow users to construct effective schema without manually editing the schema file. But for this example we will use the Schema configuration for understanding the internals of the Solr.

4.2.1 Creating a Core

When the Solr server is started in Standalone mode the configuration is called core and when it is started in SolrCloud mode the configuration is called Collection. In this example we will discuss about the standalone server and core. We will park the SolrCloud discussion for later time.

First, we need to create a Core for indexing the data. The Solr create command has the following options:

- -c <name> Name of the core or collection to create (required).
- -d <confdir> The configuration directory, useful in the SolrCloud mode.
- -n <configName> The configuration name. This defaults to the same name as the core or collection.
- -p <port> Port of a local Solr instance to send the create command to; by default the script tries to detect the port by looking for running Solr instances.

P-0 0 ☆ 8

- -s <shards> Number of shards to split a collection into, default is 1.
- -rf <replicas> Number of copies of each document in the collection. The default is 1.

In this example we will use the -c parameter for core name and -d parameter for the configuration directory. For all other parameters we make use of default settings.

Now navigate the solr-5.0.0bin folder in the command window and issue the following command.

solr create -c jcg -d basic_configs

We can see the following output in the command window.

```
Creating new core 'jcg' using command:
https://localhost:8983/solr/admin/cores?action=CREATE&name=jcg&instanceDir=jcg
```

```
{
"responseHeader":{
"status":0,
 "QTime":663},
"core":"jcg"}
```

Now we navigate to the following URL and we can see jcg core being populated in the core selector. You can also see the statistics of the core.

```
http://localhost.8983/sols/#/jcg
                           x
Solr Admir
```

https://localhost:8983/solr

	1 Statistics	Instance
Dashboard	Last Modified: Num Docs: 0 Max Doc: 0 Heap Memory 0	CWD: D:\software\soir-5.0.0\soir-5.0.0\server Instance: D:\software\soir-5.0.0\soir-5.0.0\server\soir\jog Data: D:\software\soir-5.0.0\soir-5.0.0\server\soir\jog\data Index: D:\software\soir-5.0.0\soir-5.0.0\server\soir\jog\data
Logging	Usage:	Impl: org.anache.solr.core.NRTCachingDirectoryFactory
Core Admin	Deleted Docs: 0 Version: 1	and the second se
Java Properties	Segment Count: 0	
Thread Dump	Optimized: 💙 Current: 💙	
cg *	* Replication (Master)	Healthcheck
T Overview	Version Gen Size	Ping request handler is not configured with a healthcheck file.
T Analysis	Master (Searching) 0 1 71 bytes	
Dataimport	Master (Replicable)	17 - All
Cocuments	Admin Extra	Invo Codo Cook
Files	We found an "admin actes bind" file	
Ping	THE TOURS NO. SUMMITIES ALTONIC TIME.	JAVA 2 JAVA DEVELOPERS RESOURCE CENT
🛔 Plugins / Stats		
P Query		Documentation 🌲 Issue Tracker 🚸 IRC Channel 🖂 Community forum 🖉 Solr Query
		E provinciation & trace lander State channel Commany formit State Service

Figure 4.3: Solr jcg core

4.2.2 Modify the schema.xml file

We need to modify the schema.xml file under the folder serversolrjcgconf to include the fields. We will use one of the example file "books.csv" shipped along with Solr installation for indexing. The file is located under the folder solr-5.0. Oexampleexampledocs

Now we navigate to the folder serversolr directory. You will see a folder called jcg created. The sub-folders namely`conf` and data have the core's configuration and indexed data respectively.

Now edit the schema.xml file in the serversolrjcgconf folder and add the following contents after the uniqueKey element.

schema.xml

```
<uniqueKey>id</uniqueKey>
<!-- Fields added for books.csv load-->
<field name="cat" type="text_general" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="name" type="text_general" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="price" type="tdouble" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="inStock" type="boolean" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="author" type="text_general" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
```

We have set the attribute indexed to true. This specifies the field is used for indexing and the record can be retrieved using the index. Setting the value to false will make the field only stored but can't be queried with.

Also note we have another attribute called stored and set it to true. This specifies the field is stored and can be returned in the output. Setting this field to false will make the field only indexed and can't be retrieved in output.

We have assigned the type for the fields present in the "books.csv" file here. The first field in the CSV file "id" is automatically taken care by the uniqueKey element of schema.xml file for indexing.

Since we have modified the configuration we have to stop and start the server. To do so, we need to issue the following command from bin directory through command line.

solr stop -all

The server will be stopped now. Now to start the server issue the following command from bin directory through command line.

solr start

4.3 Indexing the Data

Apache Solr comes with a Standalone Java program called the SimplePostTool. This program is packaged into JAR and available with the installation under the folder exampleexampledocs.

Now we navigate to the exampleexampledocs folder in the command prompt and type the following command. You will see a bunch of options to use the tool.

java -jar post.jar -h

The usage format in general is as follows

```
Usage: java [SystemProperties] -jar post.jar [-h|-] [<file|folder|url|arg> [<file|folder| ↔ url|arg>...]]
```

As we said earlier, we will index the data present in the "books.csv" file shipped with Solr installation. We will navigate to the solr-5.0.0exampleexampledocs in the command prompt and issue the following command.

java -Dtype=text/csv -Durl=https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/update -jar post.jar books. csv

The SystemProperties used here are:

• -Dtype - the type of the data file.

• -Durl - URL for the jcg core.

The file "books.csv" will now be indexed and the command prompt will display the following output.

```
SimplePostTool version 5.0.0
Posting files to [base] url https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/update using content-
type text/csv...
POSTing file books.csv to [base]
1 files indexed.
COMMITting Solr index changes to https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/update...
Time spent: 0:00:00.647
```

4.4 Setting up the webproject

We will use the jQuery autocomplete widget to consume the data from Solr. First, we will set up the maven project for a simple web application.

In eclipse go to File \rightarrow New \rightarrow Other \rightarrow Maven Project.

New	—	
Select a wizard Create a Maven Project		
<u>W</u> izards:		
type filter text		
 JavaScript JAXB JPA Maven Check out Maven Projects from SCM Maven Module Maven Project Maven Project Plug-in Development Remote System Explorer Server SQL Development Tasks 		~
	VA Code Java Developers Re	GEEKS
(?) < <u>Back</u> <u>Next</u> >	Einish	Cancel

Figure 4.4: Maven - step 1

In the "Select project name and location" page of the wizard, make sure that "Create a simple project (skip archetype selection)" option is **unchecked**, hit "Next" to continue with default values.



Figure 4.5: Maven - step 2

Here choose "maven-archetype-webapp" and click on Next.

New	Maven Project		3 <u>—</u> 3		\times
New Mar Select ar	ven project Archetype			M	Ì
Ca <u>t</u> alog: <u>F</u> ilter:	All Catalogs		¥	<u>C</u> onfigu	ire
Group	d	Artifact Id	Version		^
org.apa org.apa	che.maven.archetypes che.maven.archetypes	maven-archetype-profiles maven-archetype-quickstart	RELEASE RELEASE		
org.apa	che.maven.archetypes che maven archetynes	maven-archetype-site	RELEASE		
org.apa	che.maven.archetypes	maven-archetype-webapp	RELEASE	1	
org.apa org.apa	che.maven.archetypes che.maven.archetypes	softeu-archetype-jsf softeu-archetype-seam	RELEASE		•
A simple	e Java web application				\$
Show	the last version of Archetype only	Include snapshot archetypes	Add	Archety	pe
► Ad <u>v</u> an	iced		DEVELOPERS IN	Gee	KS
?	<	Back Next > Finish		Cancel	

Figure 4.6: Maven - step 3

In the "Enter an artifact id" page of the wizard, you can define the name and main package of your project. Set the "Group Id" variable to "com.javacodegeeks.snippets.enterprise" and the "Artifact Id" variable to "solrautocomplete". For package enter "com.javacodegreeks.solrautocomplete" and hit "Finish" to exit the wizard and to create your project.

New Ma	aven Project				
New Mave Specify Are	en project chetype para	meters			M
Group Id:	com.javaco	odegeeks.snippets.enterprise			~
Artifact Id:	solrautoco	mplete			*
Version:	0.0.1-SNAP	shot 🗸			
Package:	com.javaco	odegreeks.solrautocomplete			~
Properties a	available from	n archetype:			
Name		Value			<u>A</u> dd
					Remove
► Ad <u>v</u> ance	ed		Gog	Java Code	Geeks
?		< <u>B</u> ack	Next >	<u> </u>	Cancel

Figure 4.7: Maven - step 4

If you see any errors in the index.jsp , set target runtime for the project.

pe filter text	Targeted Runtimes	<	>
Resource Builders Deployment Assembly Java Build Path Java Code Style Java Compiler Java Editor Javadoc Location JavaScript JSP Fragment Maven	Apache Tomcat v7.0		
Project Facets Project References Run/Debug Settings Server Service Policies	Show <u>a</u> ll runtimes	<u>M</u> ake Primary	N <u>e</u> w
Targeted Runtimes Task Repository Task Tags Validation	<no runtime="" selected=""></no>	Java Cod	E Geel
Web Content Settings Web Page Editor Web Project Settings WikiText	If a runtime that you want to select need to uninstall one or more of the <u>Uninstall Facets</u>	is not displayed or is disable currently installed project	ed you may facets.
XDoclet		Restore Defaults	Apply
0		OK	Canad



Now create a file called search.html in webapp folder. We are using the jQuery hosted on the cloud. We will use the jQuery AJAX to fetch the data from Solr and bind to the source of the autocomplete function.

search.html

```
<!DOCTYPE html>
<html>
<head>
<meta charset="ISO-8859-1">
<title>Solr auto complete</title>
<link
href="https://code.jquery.com/ui/1.10.4/themes/ui-lightness/jquery-ui.css"
rel="stylesheet"></link>
<script src="https://code.jquery.com/jquery-1.10.2.js"></script>
<script src="https://code.jquery.com/jquery-1.10.2.js"></script></script>
<script src="https://code.jquery.com/jquery-1.10.4/jquery-ui.js"></script></script></script></script></script></script>
<script src="https://code.jquery.com/jcg/select?q=name:";</script src="https://code.jquery.com/jcg/select?q=name:";</script src="https://code.jquery.com/jcg/select?q=name:";</scrept src="https://code.jquery.com/jcg/select?q=name:";</scrept src="https://code.jquery.com/jcg/select?q=name:";</scrept src="https://code.jquery.com/jcg/select?q=name:";</scrept src="https://code.jquery.com/jcg/select?q=name:";</scrept src="https://code.jquery.com/jcg/select?q=name:";</scrept src="https://code.jquery.com/jcg/select?q=name:";</scrept src="https://code.jquery.com/jcg/select?q=name:";</scrept src="https://code.jquery.com/jcg/select?q=name:";</scrept src="https://code.jquery.com
```

```
var URL_SUFFIX = "&wt=json";
 $("#searchBox").autocomplete({
 source : function(request, response) {
 var URL = URL_PREFIX + $("#searchBox").val() + URL_SUFFIX;
 $.ajax({
 url : URL,
 success : function(data) {
 var docs = JSON.stringify(data.response.docs);
 var jsonData = JSON.parse(docs);
 response($.map(jsonData, function(value, key) {
 return {
 label : value.name
 }
 }));
 },
 dataType : 'jsonp',
 jsonp : 'json.wrf'
 });
 },
minLength : 1
})
});
</script>
</head>
<body>
Type The or A
<label for="searchBox">Tags: </label> <input id="searchBox"></input>
</body>
</html>
```

Since Solr runs on a different port and the request (webpage) is initiated from another port, we might end up with cross domain issue. To overcome this we have to use jsonp. The minLength parameter specify after how many characters typed the search has to begin. Over here we have specified the value as 1 which means when a single character is typed the results are bound.

Now we can create the deployment package using Run as \rightarrow Maven clean and then Run as \rightarrow Maven install. This will create a war file in the target folder. The war file produced must be placed in webapps folder of tomcat. Now we can start the server.

Open the following URL and type A. This will bring results with books having title A...

https://localhost:8080/solrautocomplete/search.html

← 🛞 🦉 http://localhost:8080/solrautocomplete/sear 🔎 マ ৫	Solr auto complete ×
Type 'A' or 'The'	
Tags: A ×	
A Game of Thrones	
A Clash of Kings	
A Storm of Swords	



Figure 4.9: Output 1

Now type *The* in the search box. This will return the books having word The.

← (⇒) 🥔 http://localhost:8080/solrautoco Type 'A' or 'The'	mplete/sear $\mathcal{P} \neq \mathcal{O}$ Solr auto complete ×
Tags: The × The Black Company The Book of Three The Black Cauldron	
	Java Code Geeks

Figure 4.10: Output 2

The problem with the above indexing technique is we could not able to get results based on phrases. Say if we type *The black* it doesn't fetch any result. Also when we type *bla* no results are bound. To overcome this issue we will use NGramFilterFactory and re-index the data.

4.5 Indexing using NGramFilterFactory

We will copy the field name to a new field called name_ngram. The copyField command copy one field to another at the time a document is added to the index. It's used either to index the same field differently, or to add multiple fields to the same field for easier/faster searching.

Now modify the schema.xml file in the serversolrjcgconf folder and add the following highlighted content.

```
schema.xml
```

```
<!--
<copyField source="title" dest="text"/>
<copyField source="body" dest="text"/>
-->
<copyField source="name" dest="name_ngram"/>
```

In the same file, we need to add a field called name_ngram and mark it for indexing. For it, we need to add the highlighted line.

schema.xml

```
<uniqueKey>id</uniqueKey>
<!-- Fields added for books.csv load-->
<field name="cat" type="text_general" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="name" type="text_general" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
```

```
<field name="price" type="tdouble" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="inStock" type="boolean" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="author" type="text_general" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="name_ngram" type="text_ngram" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
```

Take a note we have changed the type of the new field as text_ngram. We will define the type text_ngram subsequently.

Now we add the definition for the field text_ngram in the schema.xml file. We have set the minimum ngram size as 2 and maximum ngram size as 10.

schema.xml

```
<!-- Added for NGram field-->
<fieldType name="text_ngram" class="solr.TextField" positionIncrementGap="100">
<analyzer type="index">
<tokenizer class="solr.NGramTokenizerFactory" minGramSize="2" maxGramSize="10"/>
<filter class="solr.LowerCaseFilterFactory"/>
</analyzer type="query">
<tokenizer class="solr.EdgeNGramTokenizerFactory" minGramSize="2" maxGramSize="10"/>
<filter class="solr.LowerCaseFilterFactory"/>
<filter class="solr.EdgeNGramTokenizerFactory" minGramSize="2" maxGramSize="10"/>
<filter class="solr.LowerCaseFilterFactory" minGramSize="2" maxGramSize="10"/>
<filter class="solr.LowerCaseFilterFactory"/>
</analyzer>
<
```

We have combined the features of NGramTokenizerFactory and EdgeNGramTokenizerFactory to achieve the best of indexing. Since we have modified the configuration we have to stop and start the server. To do so, we need to issue the following command from bin directory through command line.

solr stop -all

The server will be stopped now. Now to start the server issue the following command from bin directory through command line.

solr start

We will re-index the data present in the books.csv file. We will navigate to the solr-5.0.0exampleexampledocs in the command prompt and issue the following command.

java -Dtype=text/csv -Durl=https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/update -jar post.jar books. csv

The file books.csv will now be re-indexed and the command prompt will display the following output.

4.6 Modify search.html

Now we will modify the search.html to include another search box to test the NGram indexing. We will create search box with id ngrambox and write another javascript function for the new search box.

search.html

```
<!DOCTYPE html>
<html>
<head>
<meta charset="ISO-8859-1">
<title>Solr auto complete</title>
```

```
<link
href="https://code.jquery.com/ui/1.10.4/themes/ui-lightness/jquery-ui.css"
 rel="stylesheet"></link>
<script src="https://code.jquery.com/jquery-1.10.2.js"></script>
<script src="https://code.jquery.com/ui/1.10.4/jquery-ui.js"></script>
<script>
 $(function() {
 var URL_PREFIX = "https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/select?q=name:";
 var URL_SUFFIX = "&wt=json";
 $("#searchBox").autocomplete({
 source : function(request, response) {
 var URL = URL_PREFIX + $("#searchBox").val() + URL_SUFFIX;
 $.ajax({
 url : URL,
 success : function(data) {
 var docs = JSON.stringify(data.response.docs);
 var jsonData = JSON.parse(docs);
 response($.map(jsonData, function(value, key) {
 return {
 label : value.name
 }
 }));
 },
 dataType : 'jsonp',
 jsonp : 'json.wrf'
 });
 },
 minLength : 1
 })
 });
 $(function() {
 var URL_PREFIX = "https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/select?g=name:";
 var URL_MIDDLE = "OR name_ngram:";
 var URL_SUFFIX = "&wt=json";
 $("#ngramBox").autocomplete(
 {
 source : function(request, response) {
 var searchString = "\"" + $("#ngramBox").val() + "\"";
 var URL = URL_PREFIX + searchString + URL_MIDDLE
 + searchString + URL_SUFFIX;
 $.ajax({
 url : URL,
 success : function(data) {
 var docs = JSON.stringify(data.response.docs);
 var jsonData = JSON.parse(docs);
 response($.map(jsonData, function(value, key) {
 return {
 label : value.name
 }
 }));
 },
 dataType : 'jsonp',
 jsonp : 'json.wrf'
 });
 },
 minLength : 1
 })
 });
</script>
</head>
<body>
```

```
Type 'A' or 'The'
<label for="searchBox">Tags: </label> <input id="searchBox"></input>
Type 'Th' or 'Bla' or 'The Black'
<label for="ngramBox">Tags: </label> <input id="ngramBox"></input>
</body>
</html>
```

https://localhost:8080/solrautocomplete/search.html

Now again package using maven and copy the war to the apache tomcat webapps folder. Open the following URL in the browser and type *Bla*.

```
Image: Image
```

Figure 4.11: Output 3

4.7 Download the Eclipse Project

This was an example of Solr autocomplete.

Download

You can download the full source code of this example here: solr autocomplete and download the schema file here: schema file.

Chapter 5

Solr replication example

In this example of Solr replication example, we will show you how to set up replication in Apache Solr and demonstrate how a new record gets replicated from master to slave cores. For this example we will consider one master and two slave servers. In production environment we will use different machines for hosting the master and slave servers. Over here we will run both master and slave Solr servers on the same machine by using different ports.

Our preferred environment for this example is Windows. Before you begin the Solr installation make sure you have JDK installed and Java_Home is set appropriately.

5.1 Install Apache Solr

To begin with lets download the latest version of Apache Solr from the following location.

https://lucene.apache.org/solr/downloads.html

Apache Solr has gone through various changes from 4.x.x to 5.0.0, so if you have different version of Solr you need to download the 5.x.x. version to follow this example. Once the Solr zip file is downloaded unzip it into a folder. The extracted folder will look like the below.

Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
퉬 bin	4/7/2015 2:27 PM	File folder	
🌗 contrib	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
퉬 dist	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
퉬 docs	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
퉬 example	4/3/2015 2:02 PM	File folder	
퉬 licenses	4/3/2015 11:20 AM	File folder	
퉬 server	4/3/2015 12:38 PM	File folder	
CHANGES	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	441 KB
	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	13 KB
LUCENE_CHANGES	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	523 KB
NOTICE	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	25 KB
README	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	8 KB
SYSTEM_REQUIREMENTS	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	1 KB
		Gog	Java Code Geeks

Figure 5.1: Solr folders

The bin folder contains the scripts to start and stop the server. The example folder contains few example files. We will be using one of them to demonstrate how replication works. The server folder contains the logs folder where all the Solr logs are written. It will be helpful to check the logs for any error during indexing. The solr folder under server holds different collection or core. The configuration and data for each of the core/ collection are stored in the respective core/ collection folder.

Apache Solr comes with an inbuilt Jetty server. But before we start the solr instance we must validate the JAVA_HOME is set on the machine.

We can start the server using the command line script. Lets go to the bin directory from the command prompt and issue the following command

solr start

This will start the Solr server under the default port 8983.

We can now open the following URL in the browser and validate that our Solr instance is running. The specifics of solr admin tool is beyond the scope of the example.

https://localhost:8983/solr/

śmin	×			
	Instance		E System	Ð
Oli	Start	about 5 hours ago	Physical Memory 57.7%	
Dashboard	😤 Versions			
ogging	🧠 solr-spec	5.0.0	4.55 GB	
Core Admin	solr-impl	5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:26:10	Gean Share Institu	
Java Properties	M_ lucene-spec	5.0.0	Ship Space (1.57)	
Thread Dump	lucene-impl	5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03		
			4.63 GB	
re Selector 🔹				
	MVC 🚊		JVM-Memory 8.4%	
	🚊 Runtime	Oracle Corporation Java HotSpot(TM) 64-Bit Server VM (1.8.0_25 25.25-b02)		
	Processors	4		
	Args	-DSTOP.KEY=solrrocks	41.07 MB	
		-DS109.PORT=2983 -Djava.io.tmpdir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\tmp		490.69 MB
		-Djava.net.preferIPv4Stack=true		
		-Djetty.home=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server		
		-Dlog4j.configuration=file:D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\resources	at i	
		-Dsolr.install.dir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0	Invo Dad	
		-Disolr.solr.home=D:\solfware\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\solr -Disor timezone=UTC		e Peeks
		-XX:+CMSParallelRemarkEnabled	JAVA 2 JAVA DEVELOPERS	RESOURCE CENTER
		-XX:+CMSScavengeBeforeRemark		

Figure 5.2: Solr admin console

5.2 Configuring Solr - master

In this section, we will show you how to configure the master core for a Solr instance. Apache Solr ships with an option called Schemaless mode. This option allow users to construct effective schema without manually editing the schema file. For this example we will use the reference configset sample_techproducts_configs.

5.2.1 Creating master Core

First, we need to create a core for indexing the data. The Solr create command has the following options:

- -c <name> Name of the core or collection to create (required).
- -d <confdir> The configuration directory, useful in the SolrCloud mode.
- -n <configName> The configuration name. This defaults to the same name as the core or collection.
- -p <port> Port of a local Solr instance to send the create command to; by default the script tries to detect the port by looking for running Solr instances.
- -s <shards> Number of shards to split a collection into, default is 1.
- -rf <replicas> Number of copies of each document in the collection. The default is 1.

In this example we will use the -c parameter for core name, -rf parameter for replciation and -d parameter for the configuration directory.

Now navigate the solr-5.0.0bin folder in the command window and issue the following command.

solr create -c master -d sample_techproducts_configs -p 8983 -rf 3

We can see the following output in the command window.

```
Creating new core 'master' using command:
https://localhost:8983/solr/admin/cores?action=CREATE&name=master&instanceDi
r=master
{
    "responseHeader":{
    "status":0,
    "QTime":1563},
    "core":"master"}
```

Now we can navigate to the following URL and see master core being populated in the core selector. You can also see the statistics of the core.

https://localhost:8983/solr/#/master

🔿 🧾 http://localhost	1:8983/solr/#/master 🔎 🗸 🕻	j 🗾 Solr Admin 🛛 🖈 🕄
	N Statistics	Instance
DOLI	Last Modified:	CWD: C:\solr0\solr-5.0.0\server
	Num Docs: 0	Instance: C:\solr0\solr-5.0.0\server\solr\master
Dashboard	Max Doc: 0	Data: C:\solr0\solr-5.0.0\server\solr\master\data
Logging	Usage:	\server\solr\solr=5.0.0
Core Admin	Deleted Docs: 0	Impl: org.apache.solr.core.NRTCachingDirectorvFactor
	Version: 1 Segment 0	
Java Properties	Count:	
Thread Dump	Ontimized-	
	Current: 🖌	
master 🔹		
1 Overview	C Replication (Master)	Healthcheck
T Analysis	Version Gen Size	Ping request handler is not configured with a healthcheck file.
Dataimport	Master (Searching) 0 1 71 bytes	
C Documents	Master (Replicable)	
Files	🚦 Admin Extra	17 - A
Ping		(Jog) Java Code Geeks
Plugins / Stats		JAN 2 JAN DIVIDUITIS RESOLUCE CENTRE
Query		
°t [®] Replication	📄 Documentation 🛛 🕷	.ssue Tracker 🛛 🕂 IRC Channel 🔛 Community forum 👩 Solr Query Syntax
-		

Figure 5.3: master console

5.2.2 Modify solrconfig

Open the file solrconfig.xml under the folder serversolrmasterconf and add the configuration for the master under the requestHandler tag. We will set the values for replicateAfter and backAfter to optimize. The confFiles parameter value is set according to the slave collection name we are going to create.

solrconfig.xml

```
</lst>
</lst>
<int name="maxNumberOfBackups">2</int>
<lst name="invariants">
<lst name="maxWriteMBPerSec">16</str>
</lst>
</lst>
</requestHandler>
```

Since we have modified the solrconfig we have to restart the solr server. Issue the following commands in the command window navigating to solr-5.0.0bin.

solr stop -all solr start

5.3 Configuring Solr - slave

For this example, we will create two slave cores. The data from the master core will get replicated into both slaves. We will run the two slaves on the same machine with different ports along with the master core. To do so, extract another copy of solr server to a folder called solr1. Navigate to the solr-5.0.0bin folder of solr1 in the command window and issue the following command.

solr start -p 9000

The -p option will start the solr server in a different port. For the first slave we will use port 9000. Now navigate to the solr-5.0.0bin folder of the slave in the command window and issue the following command.

solr create -c slave -d sample_techproducts_configs -p 9000

We can see the following output in the command window.

```
Creating new core 'slave' using command:
https://localhost:9000/solr/admin/cores?action=CREATE&name=slave&instanceDir=slave
{
    "responseHeader":{
    "status":0,
    "QTime":1778},
    "core":"slave"}
```

Now open the file solrconfig.xml under the folder serversolrslaveconf and add the configuration for the slave under the requestHandler tag. In the configuration we will point the slave to the masterUrl for replication. The pollInter val is set to 20 seconds. It is the time difference between two poll requests made by the slave.

solrconfig.xml

Since we have modified the solrconfig we have to restart the solr server. Issue the following commands in the command window navigating to solr-5.0.0bin.

solr stop -all solr start -p 9000

Now open the slave console using the following URL. The replication section will show the configuration reflecting the configuration we made in the solrconfig.

https://localhost:9000/solr/#/slave/replication





To create another slave server, follow the same steps and configure the server in port 9001. We can now open the console using the following URL and validate the configuration in the replication section.

https://localhost:9001/solr/#/slave/replication

Sol	🕒 Next Run: ~ 08s	°∕ Iterations:					
	👌 Refresh Status	📋 Index		Version	Gen	Size	
Dashboard		Master (Sea	rching)	0	1	71 bytes	
Logging	Replicate now	Master (Rep	licable)	-			
Core Admin	X Disable Polling	Slave (Sea	rching)	0	1	71 bytes	
Java Properties							
Thread Dump		🔀 Settings:	master	r url:	htt	p://localhost:898	3/solr/master
			polling enable:		✓ (interval: 00:00:20)		20)
slave 💌							
1 Overview		🔀 Settings	replica	tion enabl	e: 🖌		
T Analysis		(Master):	replica	replicateAfter: optimize		imize	
Dataimport			confFil	es:	soli	rconfig.xml, x.xm	ıl, y.xml
Documents							
📙 Files						6	
🔤 Ping						(JCG)	Java Lode Geeks
ᡖ Plugins / Stats						No.	JAVA 2 JAVA DEVELOPERS RESOURCE CENTER
Query	Documoni	tation 🇯 locus '	Tracker	d IDC	Channe		ity forum 🖉 Sale Quary Suptor
	Document	tation Trissue	IIdukei	S INC	Clidine	er 🔤 Commun	ity forum of Son Query Syntax



5.4 Indexing and Replication

Now we will index the example data pointing to the master core. Apache Solr comes with a Standalone Java program called the SimplePostTool. This program is packaged into JAR and available with the installation under the folder exampleexampled ocs.

Now we navigate to the exampleexampledocs folder in the command prompt and type the following command. You will see a bunch of options to use the tool.

java -jar post.jar -h

The usage format in general is as follows

```
Usage:java [SystemProperties] -jar post.jar [-h|-] [<file|folder|url|arg> [<file|folde
r|url|arg>...]]
```

As we said earlier, we will index the data present in the "books.csv" file shipped with Solr installation. We will navigate to the solr-5.0.0exampleexampledocs in the command prompt and issue the following command.

```
java -Dtype=text/csv -Durl=https://localhost:8983/solr/master/update -jar post.jar books. ↔ csv
```

The SystemProperties used here are:

- -Dtype the type of the data file.
- -Durl URL for the jcg core.

The file "books.csv" will now be indexed and the command prompt will display the following output.

```
SimplePostTool version 5.0.0
Posting files to [base] url https://localhost:8983/solr/master/update using content-type 
    text/csv...
POSTing file books.csv to [base]
1 files indexed.
COMMITting Solr index changes to https://localhost:8983/solr/master/update...
Time spent: 0:00:00.604
```

Now open the console of the slave cores and we can see the data replicated automatically.

```
https://localhost:9000/solr/#/slave
```

map//iocanos	t:9000/soli/#/slave	<u></u>		olr Admi	in ×	U A U
	I Statistics				Instance	
Dashboard	Last 2015-07-0 Modified: Num Docs: 10 Max Doc: 10	08T03:03:47.67Z			CWD: C:\solr1\solr-5.0.0\ser Instance: C:\solr1\solr-5.0.0\ser Data: C:\solr1\solr-5.0.0\ser Index: C:\solr1\solr-5.0.0	ver ver\solr\slave ver\solr\slave\data
Logging	Heap -1				\server\solr\slave\dat	a\index
Core Admin	Memory				Impl: org.apache.solr.core.	NRTCachingDirectoryF
🗿 Java Properties	Deleted 0					
Thread Dump	Docs: Version: 3 Segment 1 Count:					
Slave •	Optimized: 🖌 Current: 🖌					
Y Analysis	°C Replication (Slave	.)			Healthcheck	
🛃 Dataimport		Manalan			Ping request handler is not configu	red with a
🗇 Documents	Mactas (Coarchina)	Version	Gen	SIZE	healthcheck file.	ico mura
📑 Files	Master (Searching)	1430324027070	2	0.55 N	KB	
🔤 Ping	Slave (Searching)	1426224627670	2	6 20 K	· ·	
ᡖ Plugins / Stats	Slave (Searching)	1430324027070	2	0.25 N		de Neeke
D Query	🚹 Admin Extra				JANA CI	ING PERKS
0-0 0 -1 - 1 - 1					JAIN & JAIN DEVELO	



5.5 Add new record

Now we validate the replication further by adding a record to the master core. To do it, lets open the master console URL.

https://localhost:8983/solr/#/master/documents

Navigate to the documents section and choose the document type as CSV and input the following content into the document text area and click on Submit.

```
id,cat,name,price,inStock,author,series_t,sequence_i,genre_s
123,book,Apache Solr,6.99,TRUE,Veera,JCG,1,Technical
```

	Request-Handler (qt)
DOLI	Document Type
P. I.I.	CSV T
Dashboard	Document(s)
Logging	id,cat,name,price,inStock,author,series_t,sequence_i,genre_s
Core Admin	123,book,Apache Solr,6.99,TRUE,Veera,JCG,1,Technical
Java Properties	
Thread Dump	
acter 👻	~
	Commit Within
T Analysis	1000
Dataimpart	Overwrite
	Submit Document
riles	(Loc) Java Lode Geeks
Ping	ANA 2 JAVA DEVELOPTIS RESOURCE CENTER
Ping	
Ping	

Figure 5.7: master console - add new record

The data will be added to master core and get replicated to the slave servers. To validate it lets navigate to the slave core. We can find the count of documents getting increased to 11. We can also use the query section in the slave admin console to validate it. Open the following URL.

https://localhost:9000/solr/#/slave/query

Input the values name:apache in the q text area and click on Execute Query. The new record we inserted on the master core will get reflected in the slave core.

🔿 😰 http://localhost	:9000/solr/#/slave/query	ー ロ ター 0 🌆 Solr Admin 🗙 👔 合 大名) Ø
Dashboard Logging Core Admin Java Properties	Request-Handler (qt) /select - common q name:apache	<pre>Image: The second second</pre>	
Thread Dump	sort	} },	
Slave •	start, rows 0 10 fl	"response": { "numFound": 1, "start": 0, "doce": [
Analysis Dataimport	df	{ "id": "123", "cat": [
Files	Raw Query Parameters	"book"],	
Ping	wt json V	"name": "Apache Solr", "price": 6.99, "price_c": "6.99,USD",	
Query	Indent ☐ debugQuery	"inStock": true, "author": "Veera", Jog Java Code Geeks	
Schema Browser	dismax edismax	"author_s": "Veera", "series_t": "JCG", "sequence_i": 1, "genre_s": "Technical", "version_": 1506095736515723200	
	L Tacet	1	

Figure 5.8: slave console - query

5.6 Download the Configuration

This was an example of Apache Solr replication.

Download

You can download the master configuration here: solrconfig master and slave configuration here: solrconfig slave

Chapter 6

Solr Synonyms Example

In this example of Solr Synonyms we will show you how to use the Solr synonym feature to substitute words with the relevant words of the data we index. This feature helps in providing better user experience by identifying different usage for a word in the given data context.

Solr ships with a filter factory called SynonymFilterFactory to achieve this functionality. Also, it provides a configuration file called synonyms.txt to add our synonyms. In this example, we will discuss how to configure the synonyms for our books data.

Our preferred environment for this example is solr-5.0.0. Before you begin the Solr installation make sure you have JDK installed and Java_Home` is set appropriately.

6.1 Install Apache Solr

To begin with lets download the latest version of Apache Solr from the following location.

https://lucene.apache.org/solr/downloads.html

Apache Solr has gone through various changes from 4.x.x to 5.0.0, so if you have different version of Solr you need to download the 5.x.x. version to follow this example.

Once the Solr zip file is downloaded unzip it into a folder. The extracted folder will look like the below.

Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
퉬 bin	4/7/2015 2:27 PM	File folder	
퉬 contrib	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
鷆 dist	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
鷆 docs	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
퉬 example	4/3/2015 2:02 PM	File folder	
퉬 licenses	4/3/2015 11:20 AM	File folder	
퉬 server	4/3/2015 12:38 PM	File folder	
CHANGES	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	441 KB
LICENSE	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	13 KB
LUCENE_CHANGES	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	523 KB
NOTICE	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	25 KB
README	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	8 KB
SYSTEM_REQUIREMENTS	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	1 KB
		Gog	Java Code Geeks

Figure 6.1: Solr folders

The bin folder contains the scripts to start and stop the server. The example folder contains few example files. We will be using one of them to demonstrate how Solr indexes the data. The server folder contains the logs folder where all the Solr logs are written. It will be helpful to check the logs for any error during indexing. The solr folder under server holds different collection or core. The configuration and data for each of the core/ collection are stored in the respective core/ collection folder.

Apache Solr comes with an inbuilt Jetty server. But before we start the solr instance we must validate the JAVA_HOME is set on the machine.

We can start the server using the command line script. Lets go to the bin directory from the command prompt and issue the following command:

solr start

This will start the Solr server under the default port 8983.

We can now open the following URL in the browser and validate that our Solr instance is running. The specifics of solr admin tool is beyond the scope of the example.

https://localhost:8983/solr/

ámin X			
	ance	I System	õ
OLI 🖲 Start	about 5 hours ago	Physical Memory 57.7%	
Dashboard 🔮 Vers	ions		
Logging 🥠 solr-:	spec 5.0.0	4.55 GB	
Core Admin solr-i	impl 5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:26:10 ne-spec 5.0.0	Swap Space 29.3%	
Java Properties lucer	ne-impl 5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03		
Thread Dump		4.63 GB	
re Selector 🔹		JVM-Memory 8.4%	
🚊 Rumb	ime Oracle Corporation Java HotSpot(TM) 64-Bit Server VM (1.8.0_25 25.25-b0	2)	
Proce	essors 4		
🔳 Args	-DSTOP.KEY=solmocks	41.07 MB	
	-Djava.io.tmpdir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\tmp -Djava.net.preferIPv4Stack=true -Djetty.home=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server -Djetty.port=8983		490.69 MB 490.69 MB
	-Dlog4j.configuration=file:D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0\	Java Code	Geeks

Figure 6.2: Solr admin console

6.2 Configuring Apache Solr

In this section, we will show you how to configure the core/collection for a solr instance and how to define the fields. Apache Solr ships with an option called Schemaless mode. This option allow users to construct effective schema without manually editing the schema file. For this example we will use the reference configset sample_techproducts_configs.

First, we need to create a Core for indexing the data. The Solr create command has the following options:

- -c <name> Name of the core or collection to create (required).
- -d <confdir> The configuration directory, useful in the SolrCloud mode.
- -n <configName> The configuration name. This defaults to the same name as the core or collection.
- -p <port> Port of a local Solr instance to send the create command to; by default the script tries to detect the port by looking for running Solr instances.
- -s <shards> Number of shards to split a collection into, default is 1.
- -rf <replicas> Number of copies of each document in the collection. The default is 1.

In this example we will use the -c parameter for core name and -d parameter for the configuration directory. For all other parameters we make use of default settings.

Now navigate the solr-5.0.0bin folder in the command window and issue the following command.

solr create -c jcg -d sample_techproducts_configs

We can see the following output in the command window.

https://localhost:8983/solr

```
Creating new core 'jcg' using command:
https://localhost:8983/solr/admin/cores?action=CREATE&name=jcg&instanceDir=jcg{
    "responseHeader":{
    "status":0,
    "QTime":1377},
    "core":"jcg"}
```

Now we navigate to the following URL and we can see jcg core being populated in the core selector. You can also see the statistics of the core.

Admin	x	
	Tatistics	Instance
Dashboard Logging Core Admin Java Properties Thread Dump	Last Modified: Num Docs: 0 Max Doc: 0 Heap Memory 0 Usage: Deleted Docs: 0 Version: 1 Segment Count: 0 Optimized: Current:	CWD: D:\software\soir-5.0.0\soir-5.0.0\sorver Instance: D:\software\soir-5.0.0\soir-5.0.0\sorver\soir\jog Data: D:\software\soir-5.0.0\soir-5.0
•	*⊜ Replication (Master)	Healthcheck
Overview	Version Gen Size	Ping request handler is not configured with a healthcheck file.
T Analysis	Master (Searching) 0 1 71 bytes	
Dataimport	Master (Replicable)	17 and
Cocuments	Admin Extra	Jong Code Cool
Files	We found no "admin-extra html" file	
🖬 Ping		JAVA 2 JAVA DEVELOPERS RESOURCE CENTER
🛔 Plugins / Stats		
D Query		Documentation 🌲 Issue Tracker 🔞 180 Channel 🖂 Community forum 📓 Solt Query Sys
TE Replication		E seementeen 🛎 mee mente 🤤 me enning E enninging term 🖉 om der kom

Figure 6.3: Solr jcg core

6.3 Indexing the Data

Apache Solr comes with a Standalone Java program called the SimplePostTool. This program is packaged into JAR and available with the installation under the folder exampleexampledocs.

Now we navigate to the exampleexampledocs folder in the command prompt and type the following command. You will see a bunch of options to use the tool.

```
java -jar post.jar -h
```

The usage format in general is as follows:

```
Usage:java [SystemProperties] -jar post.jar [-h|-] [<file|folder|url|arg> [<file|folde
r|url|arg>...]]
```

As we said earlier, we will index the data present in the "books.csv" file shipped with Solr installation. We will navigate to the solr-5.0.0exampleexampledocs in the command prompt and issue the following command.

java -Dtype=text/csv -Durl=https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/update -jar post.jar books.csv

The SystemProperties used here are:

- -Dtype the type of the data file.
- -Durl URL for the jcg core.

The file "books.csv" will now be indexed and the command prompt will display the following output.

```
SimplePostTool version 5.0.0
Posting files to [base] url https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/update using content-type text ↔
    /csv...
POSTing file books.csv to [base]
1 files indexed.
COMMITting Solr index changes to https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/update...
Time spent: 0:00:00.604
```

6.4 Configure synonym

Now we modify the synonyms.txt file located under the folder serversolrjcgconf to add the synonym for our data. There are two ways to specify synonym mappings as listed below. We will discuss both the options with example.

- Two comma-separated lists of words with the symbol "⇒" between them. If the token matches any word on the left, then the list on the right is substituted. The original token will not be included unless it is also in the list on the right.
- A comma-separated list of words. If the token matches any of the words, then all the words in the list are substituted, which will include the original token.

6.4.1 With symbol " \Rightarrow "

We will first set up the synonym for correcting the spelling. Open the synonyms.txt file and add common spelling mistakes happens to the context of the data. In this example we will take the word *the*.

synonyms.txt

```
# Synonym mappings can be used for spelling correction too
pixima => pixma
teh => the
```

Since we have modified the configuration we have to restart the Solr server. To do so, issue the following commands:

solr stop -all solr start

Now we query the books with wrong spelling as *teh*. Open the following URL:

https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/select?q=name:"teh"



Figure 6.4: Solr Synonym - Output 1

6.4.2 Comma-separated list

Now let's implement another feature of Solr synonym. We will provide list of synonym for a word (clash in our case). When the user types any of the relevant word, the book with title clash will be returned. Similarly, we can add MB for MegaByte, GB for GigaByte etc depending on the context of the data we need to index.

When we perform the Solr query, each token is looked up in the list of synonyms and if a match is found then the synonym is emitted in place of the token. The position value of the new tokens are set such that they all occur at the same position as the original token.

synonyms.txt

[#] Some synonym groups specific to this example

```
GB,gib,gigabyte,gigabytes
MB,mib,megabyte,megabytes
Television, Televisions, TV, TVs
```

clash, battle, fight

Since we have modified the configuration we have to do a restart. Issue the following commands:

solr stop -all

solr start

Now query the books for title fight or battle, it would fetch the book "A Clash of Kings".

https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/select?q=name:"A fight"



Figure 6.5: Solr Synonym - Output 2

6.5 Schema configuration

The configuration to use synonym is located in the file called schema.xml in the Solr server. To view the configuration let's open the file from the location serversolrjcgconf and take a look at the following section. You can notice we have used SynonymFilterFactory filter for the fieldType text_general. Also we can notice it is only used during the query time.

schema.xml

```
<!-- A general text field that has reasonable, generic
cross-language defaults: it tokenizes with StandardTokenizer,
removes stop words from case-insensitive "stopwords.txt"
 (empty by default), and down cases. At query time only, it
also applies synonyms. -->
<fieldType name="text_general" class="solr.TextField" positionIncrementGap="100">
<analyzer type="index">
<tokenizer class="solr.StandardTokenizerFactory"/>
<filter class="solr.StopFilterFactory" ignoreCase="true" words="stopwords.txt" />
<!-- in this example, we will only use synonyms at query time
<filter class="solr.SynonymFilterFactory" synonyms="index_synonyms.txt" ignoreCase="true"</pre>
                                                                                      \leftarrow
    expand="false"/>
 -->
<filter class="solr.LowerCaseFilterFactory"/>
</analyzer>
<analyzer type="query">
<tokenizer class="solr.StandardTokenizerFactory"/>
<filter class="solr.StopFilterFactory" ignoreCase="true" words="stopwords.txt" />
="true"/>
<filter class="solr.LowerCaseFilterFactory"/>
 </analyzer>
 </fieldType>
```

6.6 Download the Configuration

This was an example of Apache Solr Synonym.

Download

You can download the synonym configuration here: synonyms.txt

Chapter 7

Solr Faceted Search Example

In this example of Solr faceted search, we will discuss about the use of faceting the data and also discuss different facet options available in Solr. For our discussion, we will be using one of the collection example (techproducts) that comes with the Solr Installation for easy set up. We will show you how to make use of the Solr facet parameters to achieve the desired search results.

Our preferred environment for this example is Windows. Before you begin the Solr installation make sure you have JDK installed and Java_Home is set appropriately.

7.1 Installing Apache Solr

To begin with, lets download the latest version of Apache Solr from the following location:

https://lucene.apache.org/solr/downloads.html

As of this writing, the stable version available is 5.0.0. Apache Solr has gone through various changes from 4.x.x to 5.0.0, so if you have different version of Solr you need to download the 5.x.x. version to follow this example.

Once the Solr zip file is downloaded unzip it into a folder. The extracted folder will look like the below.

Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
길 bin	4/7/2015 2:27 PM	File folder	
퉬 contrib	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
鷆 dist	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
鷆 docs	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
鷆 example	4/3/2015 2:02 PM	File folder	
퉬 licenses	4/3/2015 11:20 AM	File folder	
퉬 server	4/3/2015 12:38 PM	File folder	
CHANGES	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	441 KB
	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	13 KB
LUCENE_CHANGES	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	523 KB
NOTICE	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	25 KB
README	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	8 KB
SYSTEM_REQUIREMENTS	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	1 KB
		(Jog)	JAVA 2 JAVA CODE GEEKS

Figure 7.1: Solr folders

The bin folder contains the scripts to start and stop the server. The example folder contains few example files. We will be using one of them to demonstrate how Solr indexes the data. The server folder contains the logs folder where all the Solr logs are written. It will be helpful to check the logs for any error during indexing. The solr folder under server holds different collection or core. The configuration and data for each of the core/ collection are stored in the respective core/ collection folder.

Apache Solr comes with an inbuilt Jetty server. But before we start the solr instance we must validate the JAVA_HOME is set on the machine.

7.2 Start Solr Server

Solr provides few useful collection example to learn about the key features. We will use the techproducts collection bundled with Solr for our discussion. To start the Solr server with the techproducts collection let's open a command prompt, navigate to bin folder and issue the following syntax.

solr -e techproducts

This will start the Solr server under the default port 8983.

We can now open the following URL in the browser and validate that our Solr instance is running. You can also notice the collection techproducts being populated.

```
https://localhost:8983/solr/
```
dmin	×			
	Instance		🖀 System	0
Oli	Start	about 5 hours ago	Physical Memory 57.7%	
Dashboard	Tersions			
Logging	🥱 solr-spec	5.0.0	4.55 GB	
Core Admin	solr-impl	5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:26:10	Swap Space 29.3%	
Java Properties	Iucene-spec	5.0.0		
Thread Dump	lucene-impl	5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03	40.00	
			4.03 (38)	
re Selector 🔹	C IVM		WM-Memory	
	Duntime	Orada Comershian Isus UniCont(TM) 64 82 Canver 108 (1 8 8 25 25 25 502)	- /// //////	
	Processors	4		
	Args	-DSTOP.KEY=solmocks	41.07 MB	
		-DSTOP.PORT=7983	tantr the	490.69 MB
		-Djava.not.mpdir=D: (software (soir-5.0.0)(soir-5.0.0)(server)(mp -Djava.net.preferIPv4Stack=true		
		-Djetty.home=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server		
		- Djetty.port=8983 - Dioo4i configuration=file:D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\resources	100	
		-Dsolr.install.dir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0		0.1
		-Dsolr.solr.home=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\solr		e l'eeks
		-Duser.timezone=UTC -YY++CMSDaralleRemarkEnabled		RESOURCE CENTER
		-)X:+CMSScavengeBeforeRemark		
		-XX:+ParallelRefProcEnabled		

Figure 7.2: Solr admin console

7.3 Facet Search

Faceting is the process of arranging the search results into categories based on indexed terms. The output of the facet search is the numerical count found for each search term. This feature is very useful in providing better user experience during search by narrowing in on the results.

The following are the general parameters for facet.

- facet If set to true, enables faceting.
- facet.query Specifies a Lucene query to generate a facet count.

7.3.1 Field-Value Faceting

In this example we will set the facet value to true and set the facet.field parameter. The facet.field parameter identifies a field to be treated as a facet. The other parameters used in the query are Solr general query parameters and not related to faceting. To get more information on those parameters please look into our previous examples.

Now navigate to the following URL. This will bring the products with price range 0 to 400 and group the results by category.

```
https://localhost:8983/solr/techproducts/select?q=price:[0 TO 400]&fl=id,name,price&fa
cet=true&facet.field=cat
```



Figure 7.3: Solr Facet Field Value

There are other handful of facet parameters available to tune the search results when using Field-Value faceting.

7.3.2 Range Faceting

We can use range faceting on date or numeric fields that support range queries. This feature is very helpful in providing better user experience by bucketing the reference field in ranges. In this example we will use the price field to do the range faceting. The following parameters are used in the query.

- facet.range Specifies the field to facet by range.
- facet.range.start Specifies the start of the facet range.
- facet.range.end Specifies the start of the facet range.

• facet.range.gap - Specifies the span of the range as a value to be added to the lower bound.

Now navigate to the following URL. This will bring the numerical products with price range bucketed into ranges of 100 for the results.

```
https://localhost:8983/solr/techproducts/select?q=price:[0 TO 4000]&fl=id,name,price&facet= ↔
    true&facet.field=cat&facet.range=price&f.price.facet.range.start=0.0&f.price.facet.range ↔
    .end=1000.0&f.price.facet.range.gap=100
```



Figure 7.4: Solr Facet Range

7.3.3 Interval Faceting

Another feature in Solr is Interval faceting. This looks similar to Range faceting but Interval faceting gives options to set variable range as against the former which can set only a fixed gap. In order to use Interval Faceting on a field, it is required that the field has "docValues" enabled.

To modify the field lets navigate to exampletechproductssolrtechproductsconf and set the "docValues" attribute to true in the schema.xml file as shown below.

schema.xml

```
<field name="weight" type="float" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="price" type="float" indexed="true" stored="true" docValues="true"/>
<field name="popularity" type="int" indexed="true" stored="true" />
<field name="inStock" type="boolean" indexed="true" stored="true" />
```

Since we have modified the configuration we have to restart the Solr instance. Open a command prompt, navigate to bin folder and issue the following commands.

solr stop -all solr -e techproducts

In this example we will use the following faceting parameters.

- facet.interval Specifies the field to facet by interval.
- facet.interval.set Sets the intervals for the field.

We can use the following syntax to include or exclude the values provided in the set interval.

 $(1,10) \rightarrow$ will include values greater than 1 and lower than 10.

 $[1,10) \rightarrow$ will include values greater or equal to 1 and lower than 10.

 $[1,10] \rightarrow$ will include values greater or equal to 1 and lower or equal to 10.

Now navigate to the following URL. This will bring the numerical count of the products for the intervals provided in the query.

https://localhost:8983/solr/techproducts/select?q=*:*&fl=id,name,price&facet=true&facet. ↔
field=cat&facet.interval=price&f.price.facet.interval.set=[0,10]&f.price.facet.interval. ↔
set=(10,100]





7.4 Download the Configuration

This was an example of solr faceted search.

Download

You can download the schema for the example here: Schema.xml

Chapter 8

Solr Filter Query Example

In this example of Solr filter query, we will discuss about how to implement filter queries functionality provided by Apache Solr. We will discuss how to use single and multiple filter queries to achieve the desired results. Also we will show the various filter query syntax offered by Solr and discuss the advantages of using one over other.

To demonstrate the filter query usage, we will create a core in Solr using basic configuration and index a sample file shipped along with Solr installation.

Our preferred environment for this example is solr-5.0.0. Before you begin the Solr installation make sure you have JDK installed and Java_Home is set appropriately.

8.1 Install Apache Solr

To begin with, lets download the latest version of Apache Solr from the following location:

https://lucene.apache.org/solr/downloads.html

Apache Solr has gone through various changes from 4.x.x to 5.0.0, so if you have a different version of Solr you need to download the 5.x.x. version to follow this example.

Once the Solr zip file is downloaded, unzip it into a folder. The extracted folder will look like the below:

Name	Date modified	Туре	Size
길 bin	4/7/2015 2:27 PM	File folder	
퉬 contrib	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
鷆 dist	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
鷆 docs	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	File folder	
鷆 example	4/3/2015 2:02 PM	File folder	
퉬 licenses	4/3/2015 11:20 AM	File folder	
鷆 server	4/3/2015 12:38 PM	File folder	
CHANGES	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	441 KB
LICENSE	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	13 KB
LUCENE_CHANGES	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	523 KB
NOTICE	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	25 KB
README	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	8 KB
SYSTEM_REQUIREMENTS	4/3/2015 11:19 AM	Text Document	1 KB
		GCG	Java Code Geeks

Figure 8.1: Solr folders

The bin folder contains the scripts to start and stop the server. The example folder contains few example files. We will be using one of them to demonstrate how Solr indexes the data. The server folder contains the logs folder where all the Solr logs are written. It will be helpful to check the logs for any error during indexing. The solr folder under server holds different collection or core. The configuration and data for each of the core/ collection are stored in the respective core/ collection folder.

Apache Solr comes with an inbuilt Jetty server. But before we start the solr instance we must validate the JAVA_HOME is set on the machine.

We can start the server using the command line script. Lets go to the bin directory from the command prompt and issue the following command:

solr start

This will start the Solr server under the default port 8983.

We can now open the following URL in the browser and validate that our Solr instance is running. The specifics of solr admin tool is beyond the scope of the example.

https://localhost:8983/solr/

Instance Instance Insta	min	×			
Image: Start about 5 hours ago Physical Memory 152.7% Image: Start about 5 hours ago Physical Memory 152.7% Image: Start Solr-spec 5.0.0 Solr-spec 5.0.0 solr-spec Solr-spec 5.0.0 solr-spec Image: Solr-spec 5.0.0 solr-spec Solr-spec 5.0.0 solr-spec Image: Solr-spec Solr-spec solr-spec Image: Solr-spec Solr-s		Instance		🖀 System	0
ashboard Versions 4.53 GB orgging solr-spec 5.0.0 4.53 GB ore Admin solr-impl 5.0.0 1559987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:26:10 Swap Space 193% wa Properties lucen-impl 5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03 4.63 GB isolector Iucen-impl 5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03 4.63 GB isolector Iucen-impl Solo 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03 4.63 GB isolector Iucen-impl Solo 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03 4.63 GB isolector Iucen-impl Solo 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03 4.63 GB isolector Iucen-impl Solo 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03 4.63 GB isolector Iucen-impl Solo 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03 4.63 GB isolector Implemont Implemont 4.63 GB 4.63 GB	Oli	Start	about 5 hours ago	Physical Memory 57.7%	
pigging Image: solr-spec 5.0.0 4.55 GB solr-impl 5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:26:10 Swap Space 33.56 ma Properties iucene-impl 5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03 4.63 GB iselector Iucene-impl 5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03 4.63 GB iselector Iucene-impl 5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03 4.63 GB iselector Image: Solo Iucene-impl S.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03 4.63 GB iselector Image: Solo Iucene-impl S.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03 4.63 GB iselector Image: Solo Iucene-impl S.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03 4.63 GB iselector Image: Solo Iucene-impl Solo Iucene-impl Solo Iucene-impl 4.63 GB iselector Image: Solo Iucene-impl Oracle Corporation Java HotSpot(TM) 64-Bit Server VM (1.8.0_25 25.25-b02) Image: Solo Iucene-impl 41.07 HB Image: Solo Iucene-impl Opiava.aict.proferiPv4Stack=true Opiava.aict.proferiPv4Stack=true 41.07 HB Image: Solo Iucene-implicition-implici: Iucene-implicition-implici: Iucene-implicition-implici: Iucene-implicition-implicition-implicition-implicion-implicition-imp	ashboard	2 Versions			
soli-impl 5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:26:10 Wa Properties Tread Dump Selector • 5.0.0 Selector • 5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03 Selector • 5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:10 12:20 1	aging	🥱 solr-spec	5.0.0	4.55 GB	
wa Properties *** lucene-spec 5.0.0 hread Dump 5.0.0 1659967 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03 4.63 GB Selector ** *** Image: Selector *** **** Image: Selector **** ***** Image: Selector ****** ************************************	pre Admin	solr-impl	5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:26:10	Swap Space 29.3%	
Incene-impl S.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03 Incene-impl S.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03 Iselector Image: Selector image: S	wa Properties	Iucene-spec	5.0.0		
Selector Select	read Dump	lucene-impl	5.0.0 1659987 - anshumgupta - 2015-02-15 12:20:03		
Selector Image: Selector Image: Selector Image: Selector <				4.63 GB	
IVM Oracle Corporation Java HotSpot(TM) 64-Bit Server VM (1.8.0_25 25.25-b02) Processors 4 Args OSTOP.KEY=solrrocks OSTOP.PORT=7983 Ojava.io.tmpdir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\tmp Ojava.net.prefer1Pv45tack=true Ojetty.home=0:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\resources. Osolr.install.dir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\resources. Osolr.install.dir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\solr Osolr.install.dir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\server\solr Osolr.install.dir=D:\software\so	Selector •	-			
Oracle Corporation Java HotSpot(TM) 64-Bit Server VM (1.8.0_25 25.25-b02) Processors 4 Oracle Corporation Java HotSpot(TM) 64-Bit Server VM (1.8.0_25 25.25-b02) Processors 4 Oracle Corporation Java HotSpot(TM) 64-Bit Server VM (1.8.0_25 25.25-b02) 41.07 MB Oracle Corporation Java HotSpot(TM) 64-Bit Server VM (1.8.0_25 25.25-b02) 41.07 MB Oracle Corporation Java HotSpot(TM) 64-Bit Server VM (1.8.0_25 25.25-b02) Args OSTOP.PORT=7983 OSTOP.PORT=7983 Ojava.io.tmpdir=D:lsoftwarelsolr-5.0.0lserver/tmp Ojava.io.tmpdir=D:lsoftwarelsolr-5.0.0lserver/tmp Ojava.net.preferIPv4Stack=true Ojetty.home=D:lsoftwarelsolr-5.0.0lselr-s.0.0lserver/resources Oselr.Install.dir=D:lsoftwarelsolr-5.0.0lselr-s.0.0lserver/resources Oselr.Install.dir=D:lsoftwarelsolr-5.0.0lselr-s.0.0lserver/solr Desetr.install.dir=D:lsoftwarelsolr-5.0.0lserver/solr Oracle Corporation = Dilesoftwarelsolr-5.0.0lserver/solr Oselr.solr.home=D:lsoftwarelsolr-5.0.0lserver/solr		MAC 👅		JVM-Memory 8.4%	
Processors 4 Args -DSTOP.KEY=solrrocks 41.07 MB -Djava.io.tmpdir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\tmp -Djava.net.preferIPv4Stack=true -Djetty.home=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\texture -Djetty.port=8983 -Dlog4j.configuration=file:D:\software\solr-5.0.0\server\textures -Dsolr.nstall.dir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\server\textures -Dsolr.solr.hom=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\server\textures -Dsolr.solr.hom=D:\software\solr.hom=D:\solr.hom=D:\solr.hom=D:\solr.hom=D:\solr.hom=D:\solr.hom=D:\solr		Runtime	Oracle Corporation Java HotSpot(TM) 64-Bit Server VM (1.8.0_25 25.25-b02)		
Args -DSTOP.KEY-solmocks 41.07 MB -DSTOP.PORT=7983 -Djava.io.tmpdir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\tmp -Djava.net.preferIPv4Stack=true -Djetty.home=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\server -Djetty.port=8983 -Dlog4[.configuration=file:D:\software\solr-5.0.0\server\resources_ -Dsolr.install.dir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\server\solr -Dsolr.solr.home=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\server\solr -Dsolr.solr.home=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\server\solr		Processors	4		
-Djava.io.tmpdir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\tmp -Djava.net.preferIPv4Stack=true -Djetty.home=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\server -Djetty.port=8983 -Dlog4j.configuration=file:D:\software\solr-5.0.0\server\resources		Args	-DSTOP.KEY=solrrocks -DSTOP.PORT=7983	41.07 MB	
-Djava.net.preferIPv4Stack=true -Djetty.home=D:(software/solr-5.0.0)(solr-5.0.0)(server -Djetty.port=8983 -Dlog4j.configuration=file:D:(software(solr-5.0.0)(solr-5.0.0)(server)(resources			-Djava.io.tmpdir=D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\tmp		490.69 MB 490.69 MB
-Djetty.port=8983 -Dlog4j.configuration=file:D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\resources			-Djava.net.preferIPv4Stack=true -Dietty.home=D:\software\soir-5.0.0\soir-5.0.0\server		
-Dlog4j.configuration=file:D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\resources			-Djetty.port=8983		
-Dool rabat an -D: Software Sol -S.0.0 (soft-S.0.0) (server) solr			-Dlog4j.configuration=file:D:\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\resources	17-24	
			-Dsorranstan.or=D: (software(solr-5.0.0/solr-5.0.0) -Dsolr.solr.home=D: (software(solr-5.0.0)(solr-5.0.0)(server)(solr	hol evel (Sou)	a Cooke
			-Duser.timezone=UTC		g ageng
-XX:+CMSParallelRemarkEnabled			-XX:+CMSParalleRemarkEnabled	JAVA 2 JAVA DEVELOPERS	

Figure 8.2: Solr admin console

8.2 Configuring Apache Solr

In this section, we will show you how to configure the core/collection for a solr instance and how to define the fields. Apache Solr ships with an option called Schemaless mode. This option allow users to construct effective schema without manually editing the schema file. But for this example we will use the Schema configuration for understanding the internals of the Solr.

8.2.1 Creating a Core

When the Solr server is started in Standalone mode, the configuration is called core and when it is started in SolrCloud mode, the configuration is called Collection. In this example we will discuss about the standalone server and core. We will park the SolrCloud discussion for later time.

First, we need to create a Core for indexing the data. The Solr create command has the following options:

- -c <name> Name of the core or collection to create (required).
- -d <confdir> The configuration directory, useful in the SolrCloud mode.
- -n <configName> The configuration name. This defaults to the same name as the core or collection.
- -p <port> Port of a local Solr instance to send the create command to; by default the script tries to detect the port by looking for running Solr instances.

0-0 0 2 8

- -s <shards> Number of shards to split a collection into, default is 1.
- -rf <replicas> Number of copies of each document in the collection. The default is 1.

In this example we will use the -c parameter for core name and -d parameter for the configuration directory. For all other parameters we make use of default settings.

Now navigate the solr-5.0.0bin folder in the command window and issue the following command:

solr create -c jcg -d basic_configs

We can see the following output in the command window.

```
Creating new core 'jcg' using command:
https://localhost:8983/solr/admin/cores?action=CREATE&name=jcg&instanceDir=jcg
```

```
{
"responseHeader":{
"status":0,
 "QTime":663},
 "core":"jcg"}
```

https://localhost:8983/solr

Now we navigate to the following URL and we can see jcg core being populated in the core selector. You can also see the statistics of the core.

```
http://localhost.8983/sole/#/jcg
```

	Statistics	Instance
Dashboard	Last Modified: Num Docs: 0 Max Doc: 0 Heap Memory 0	CWD: D::\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server Instance: D::\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\solr\jog Data: D::\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\solr\jog\data Index: D::\software\solr-5.0.0\solr-5.0.0\server\solr\jog\data\index
Logging	Usage: Deleted Docs: 0	Impl: org.apache.solr.core.NRTCachingDirectoryFactory
Core Admin	Version: 1	
Java Properties	Segment Count: 0	
Thread Dump	Optimized: 🖌 Current: 🖌	
g *	°© Replication (Master)	Healthcheck
Overview	Version Gen Size	Ping request handler is not configured with a healthcheck file.
Analysis	Master (Searching) 0 1 71 bytes	
Dataimport	Master (Replicable)	17-2010
Documents	Admin Extra	Invo Podo Cook
Files	Autom EALO	
Ping	We found no adminiextra.htmir file.	AVA 2 JAVA DEVELOPERS RESOURCE CENTE
🛔 Plugins / Stats		
D Query		Reconstructions . In Second Texal Community Co
		🔄 bocumentation 🔮 tissue tracker 🔉 tiku unannei 🔛 community forum 🖉 Solf Query Sy

Figure 8.3: Solr jcg core

8.2.2 Modify the schema.xml file

We need to modify the schema.xml file under the folder serversolrjcgconf to include the fields. We will use one of the example file "books.csv" shipped along with Solr installation for indexing. The file is located under the folder solr-5.0. Oexampleexampledocs

Now we navigate to the folder serversolr directory. You will see a folder called jcg created. The sub-folders namely`conf` and data have the core's configuration and indexed data respectively.

Now edit the schema.xml file in the serversolrjcgconf folder and add the following contents after the uniqueKey element.

schema.xml

```
<uniqueKey>id</uniqueKey>
<!-- Fields added for books.csv load-->
<field name="cat" type="text_general" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="name" type="text_general" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="price" type="tdouble" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="inStock" type="boolean" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
<field name="author" type="text_general" indexed="true" stored="true"/>
```

We have set the attribute indexed to true. This specifies the field is used for indexing and the record can be retrieved using the index. Setting the value to false will make the field only stored but can't be queried with.

Also note we have another attribute called stored and set it to true. This specifies the field is stored and can be returned in the output. Setting this field to false will make the field only indexed and can't be retrieved in output.

We have assigned the type for the fields present in the "books.csv" file here. The first field in the CSV file "id" is automatically taken care by the uniqueKey element of schema.xml file for indexing.

Since we have modified the configuration we have to stop and start the server. To do so, we need to issue the following command from bin directory through command line:

solr stop -all

The server will be stopped now. Now to start the server issue the following command from bin directory through command line:

solr start

8.3 Indexing the Data

Apache Solr comes with a Standalone Java program called the SimplePostTool. This program is packaged into JAR and available with the installation under the folder exampleexampledocs.

Now we navigate to the exampleexampledocs folder in the command prompt and type the following command. You will see a bunch of options to use the tool.

java -jar post.jar -h

The usage format in general is as follows:

<code>Usage: java [SystemProperties] -jar post.jar [-hl-] [<filelfolderlurllarg> [<filelfolderlurllarg>...]]</code>

As we said earlier, we will index the data present in the "books.csv" file shipped with Solr installation. We will navigate to the solr-5.0.0exampleexampledocs in the command prompt and issue the following command.

```
java -Dtype=text/csv -Durl=https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/update -jar post.jar books.
csv
```

The SystemProperties used here are:

- -Dtype the type of the data file.
- -Durl URL for the jcg core.

The file "books.csv" will now be indexed and the command prompt will display the following output.

```
SimplePostTool version 5.0.0
Posting files to [base] url https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/update using content-
type text/csv...
POSTing file books.csv to [base]
1 files indexed.
COMMITting Solr index changes to https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/update...
Time spent: 0:00:00.647
```

8.4 Filter queries

Solr provides the following parameter to filter the queries. This parameter can be used with other common query parameters to achieve the desired output.

• fq - Applies a filter query to the search results.

The fq parameter defines a query that can be used to restrict the superset of documents that can be returned, without influencing score. The fq parameterized queries are cached independent of the main query. When the same filter is used in the subsequent queries its a cache hit and the data is returned quickly from the cache.

8.4.1 Single filter query

Let's form a query to search for the keyword Game in the name field. Open the following URL in the browser. This query will fetch two records as shown in the screenshot.

https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/select?q=name



Figure 8.4: Without filter

We will modify the query to filter the result for the book's price between 1.00 to 7.00. With the filter parameter we will get only a single record.

Open the following URL in the browser:

https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/select?q=name:Game&fq=price:[1.00 TO 7.00]



Figure 8.5: Single filter

8.4.2 Multiple filters

The fq parameter can be specified multiple times in a query. The documents will only be included in the result if they are in the intersection of the document sets resulting from each instance of the parameter. In the example below, only documents which are in price between 1.00 and 7.00 and also in stock will be returned.

Open the following URL in the browser.

https://localhost:8983/solr/jcg/select?q=name:The&fq=price:[1.00 TO 7.00]&fq=inStock:true





Since the cache works on individual parameters it is suggested to use multiple fq parameters for better caching.

8.5 Download the source code

This was an example of solr filter queries.

Download the Configuration

You can download the schema file of this example here: filter_schema